IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARY SUE DUKE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED

AUG 21 1972

John S. Allen
John S. Allen *ph*

CASE NO.

72,912

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. MCGINNES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR #230502
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mary Sue Duke was the defendant in the trial court, appellant before the District Court Of Appeal, First District, and will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by her proper name. Reference to the volume of the record on appeal labelled "Volume I" containing transcripts of the hearing held on the state's notice of intent to rely upon out of court statements and jury selection will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to the volume of the record labelled "Volume II" containing transcripts of the jury trial will be by use of the symbol "B" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to the volume of the record labelled "Volume III" containing transcripts of the defendant's motion for a new trial and sentencing will be by use of the symbol "C" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to the volume of the record containing the pleadings and

orders filed in the cause will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the opinion issued in petitioner's case by the District Court of Appeal, First District, which will be referred to by the symbol "App" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Count II of an indictment alleged that petitioner aided and abetted a sexual battery actually committed by her codefendant, Steven Duke, on or between March 30, 1986, and May 27, 1986, contrary to Sections 777.011 and 794.011(2), Florida Statutes (1985)(R-3-4). Petitioner was born December 15, 1970 (B-18), and thus was fifteen years old during the period of time alleged in the indictment. She was convicted as charged (B-166) and, on December 16, 1986, she was adjudged guilty and sentenced to seven years in prison, with 195 days credit (R-51-57).

Petitioner timely took an appeal to the District Court Of Appeal, First District (R-71), and her judgment and sentence was affirmed by opinion entered August 4, 1988 (App. 1-4). That opinion summarized the arguments made by petitioner and by the state, and gave the basis for the district court's affirmance in the following manner:

[M]ary Sue Duke, appeals her sentence of seven years for aiding and abetting the commission of the sexual battery, a life felony, claiming that the trial court erred in failing to follow the requirements of section 39.111, Florida Statutes (1985). We affirm her conviction and sentence, but certify the question to the supreme court as a matter of great public importance.

Mary asserts that the trial court failed to consider a predisposition report and the statutory criteria for determining the suitability of adult sanctions, and failed to analyze in writing the decision to impose adult sanctions, as required by section 39.111(6) when "a child has been transferred for criminal prosecution." She argues that a juvenile charged by indictment is considered "transferred", citing Goodson v. State,

So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), approved, State v. Goodson, 403 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1981), and State v. Upshaw, 469 So.2d 922 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

The State contends that under section 39.02(5)(c)1, Florida Statutes (1985) a child charged by indictment with a crime punishable by death or life imprisonment "shall be tried and handled in every respect as if he were an adult" on all crimes charged in the indictment based on the same act. The State argues that an indictment for an offense punishable by death or life imprisonment does not constitute a "transfer" under chapter 39, citing Myers v. State, 442 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), pet. for rev. den., 450 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1984), and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by treating Mary Duke as an adult without the written findings required by section 39.111(6).

Reading the provisions of chapter 39 in pari materia, we find that an indictment for an offense punishable by death or life imprisonment does not constitute a "transfer" within the meaning of section 39.02(6), Florida Statutes (1985), which would require compliance with the provisions of section 39.111(6). However, because of the possible confusion engendered by Goodson, we certify this issue to the Florida Supreme Court as a matter of great public importance.

(App. 2-3).

As noted, the district court certified that the issue involved is a matter of great public importance, thereby conferring jurisdiction in this Court pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Constitution of the State Of Florida.

Notice of invoking this Court's jurisdiction is being timely filed simultaneously with this initial brief.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the actual argument is within the page limitations for a summary of argument, to avoid needless repetition a formal summary of argument will be omitted here.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY IMPOSING ADULT SANCTIONS UPON PETITIONER WITHOUT FIRST FOLLOWING THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 39.111, FLORIDA STATUTES (1985).

Since petitioner was fifteen years old at the time the offense for which she was convicted was committed, she was subject to the jurisdiction of the juvenile court. Section 39.01(7) and 39.02(1), Florida Statutes (1985). Although a juvenile, the prosecutor caused petitioner to be tried as adult by obtaining a grand jury indictment against her (R-3-4). Section 39.111, Florida Statutes (1985), sets forth the procedure to be followed when disposing of cases where a juvenile is tried as an adult. A predispositional report must be considered by the court. Section 39.011(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). The suitability or unsuitability of adult sanctions must be determined by reference to specified statutory criteria. Section 39.011(6)(c), Florida Statutes (1985). The decision to impose adult sanctions must be in writing replete with findings of fact and analysis of the criteria. Section 39.011(6)(d), Florida Statutes (1985). None of these requirements were satisfied in the instant case.

Pursuant to Section 39.011(6), Florida Statutes (1985), the procedure outlined in the preceding paragraph applies where "...a child has been transferred for criminal prosecution and the child has been found to have committed a violation of Florida law...." A juvenile who has been tried as an adult because charged by an indictment is considered "transferred" to

the criminal division of the circuit court. Goodson v. State, 392 So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), approved, State v. Goodson, 403 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1981) See also State v. Upshaw, 469 So.2d 922 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). It follows that petitioner is entitled to, but thus far has been denied, the benefits of the statute.

In the district court the state took the position that, based upon Myers v. State, 442 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), petitioner was not "transferred" to the adult division of the circuit court because she was charged by indictment. The state also argued below that Chapter 39, Florida Statutes (1985) gives the trial court discretion whether to sentence petitioner as an adult, or whether to even make the written findings set forth in Section 39.111(6), Florida Statutes (1985). Petitioner submits these arguments are devoid of legal merit.

In Myers, the district court reached the decision it did because the statute in question did not explicitly mention the word "indictment":

Judge v. State, 408 So.2d 831, 832 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), held that such an indictment is a transfer within the meaning of section 39.02(5)(d). Judge, however, is no longer controlling, inasmuch as the Florida Legislature, by chapter 81-269, section 1, Laws of Florida, amended section 39.02(5)(d) by eliminating the word "indictment" from the statute. We therefor adopt the result of Postell v. State, 383 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) and find that there was no transfer as contemplated by the statute.

442 So.2d at 272.

This reasoning, however, was explicitly rejected in this Court's subsequently rendered decision in State v. Goodson, supra:

[T]he state argues Goodson could not have been "transferred" to the criminal division of the circuit court as required by section 958.04(1)(a), since he was brought before the criminal division pursuant to an indictment and was never subject to the circuit court's jurisdiction. To accept this argument would create the anomalous situation in which a person between the ages of eighteen and twenty-one who is indicted may be classified as a youthful offender, whereas a person under eighteen who is indicted may not be. [citation omitted] We do not believe the legislature intended such a result.

403 So.2d at 1339.

Since Goodson, with the exception of the decision below, courts have uniformly treated indictments as "transfers" from the juvenile to the adult divisions of circuit court, even though the term "indictment" was eliminated from the statute. See State v. Upshaw, supra. As was true in Goodson, to adopt the state's position would result in the anomalous situation in which a juvenile who is tried in adult court by virtue of a method other than indictment has the chance of receiving juvenile treatment, whereas an indicted person would not. Myers is simply no longer good law in light of Goodson.

While as a general proposition it is true that a trial court has discretion whether or not to impose adult sanctions, petitioner contends this discretion cannot be intelligently utilized if the trial court did not consider the statutory

criteria. In other words, the trial court has no discretion as to whether to follow the proper procedure.