IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARY SUE DUKE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.

72,912

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED

AUG 12 1983

c

sh

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Mary Sue Duke, Appellant below, will be referred to herein as "Petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, will be referred to herein as "the State." References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcript of proceedings will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State is in substantial agreement with Petitioner's statement of the case and facts but would note that Petitioner was found guilty of coercing/inducing a minor under the age of twelve to engage in sexual acts with Petitioner's husband, in which Petitioner also participated (R 3, 38; T 67). In addition, the State would note that since the original trial leading to Petitioner's conviction was in 1986, the 1985 Florida Statutes were in effect.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the actual argument is within the page limitations for a summary of argument, to avoid needless repetition a formal summary of argument will be omitted here.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED ADULT
SANCTIONS ON PETITIONER.

Although Petitioner was fifteen years old when she committed the offense for which she was convicted, pursuant to Section 39.02(5)(c)(1), Florida Statutes (1985), she was tried as an adult since she was indicted on a life felony charge (R 3-4). Similarly, Petitioner could not have been accorded youthful offender status since Section 958.04(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1985), states that no person who has been found guilty of a life felony may be sentenced as a youthful offender.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence and held that an indictment for an offense punishable by death or life imprisonment does not constitute a transfer within the meaning of Section 39.02(6), Florida Statutes (1985). Duke v. State, __ So.2d __, __ FLW __ (Fla. 1st DCA, August 4, 1988).

The district court certified the following question: Whether an indictment for an offense punishable by death or life imprisonment constitutes a "transfer" from circuit court juvenile jurisdiction to circuit court criminal jurisdiction in light of the decision in State v. Goodson, 403 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1981), which held that a minor is to be considered "transferred for

prosecution to the criminal division" even though he is initially proceeded against by indictment and there is no actual transfer from one division to another (Restated).

The State submits that there is no "transfer" if the juvenile is initially proceeded against by indictment. Section 39.02(5)(c)(1), Florida Statutes (1985) clearly states;

(c) 1. A child of any age charged with a violation of Florida law punishable by death or by life imprisonment shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the court as set forth in s. 39.06(7) **unless** and until an indictment on such charge is returned by the grand jury. When an indictment is returned, the petition for delinquency, **if any**, shall be dismissed. The child shall be tried and handled **in every respect** as if he were an adult. . . (Emphasis supplied).

In the instant case, no petition for delinquency was filed, and the grand jury returned an indictment, therefore exclusive original jurisdiction was vested in the criminal division of the circuit court and no "transfer" occurred as none was possible. Consequently the provisions of Section 39.111, Florida Statutes (1985), are inapplicable and the trial judge had no cause or authority to consider any predispositional report under that section.

Words of common usage should be construed in their plain and ordinary sense. State v. Cormier, 375 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1979); Tatzel v. State, 356 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1978).

In support of the proposition that no "transfer" occurs when a juvenile is proceeded against by indictment, the State relies on Myers v. State, 442 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) and Postell v. State, 383 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

In Myers, supra, the First District Court of Appeal found that a minor indicted by the grand jury was not "transferred" within the meaning of the statute relating to delinquency cases, and thus he was not entitled to findings of fact by the trial judge as to why he should not be sentenced as a juvenile (Myers was decided subsequent to Goodson).

The Third District Court of Appeal held in Postell, supra, that a child indicted by the grand jury for an offense punishable by death or life imprisonment is not "transferred" within the purview of Chapter 39, Florida Statutes.

Despite the clear mandate of the the statute, the First District in its opinion in the instant case, correctly points out that this Court's opinion in Goodson, supra, engenders "possible confusion."

In Goodson, Justice Boyd wrote that

. . . the state argues that Goodson could not have been "transferred" to the criminal division of the circuit court as required by section 958.04(1)(a), since he was brought before the criminal division pursuant to an indictment and was never subject

to the circuit court's juvenile division. To accept this argument would create the anomalous situation in which a person between the ages of eighteen and twenty-one who is indicted may be classified as a youthful offender, whereas a person under eighteen who is indicted may not be. **Goodson v. State**, 392 So.2d at 1336-37. We do not believe the legislature intended such a result. We find the district court's decision on this point to be very persuasive and therefore adopt it as our own.

Goodson, supra at 1339.

The First District pointed out that there is no "anomalous situation" and the Goodson opinion appears to be based on a flawed interpretation of Section 958.04(1)(b) (See footnote 1, Duke, supra.). The State would point out that legislative intent is best perceived through the plain meaning of legislation. This Court has held that an inquiry into legislative intent for purposes of interpreting a statute may begin only where a statute is ambiguous on its face. Streeter v. Sullivan, 509 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1987). Justice Boyd identified no ambiguity but merely disagreed with the perceived result. The Legislature has shown its clear intention to treat juvenile capital felons as if they were adults. In this situation there clearly is no "transfer" unless a petition for delinquency was filed prior to the indictment, in which case the juvenile is then "transferred" from the juvenile to the criminal division of the circuit court. Any "constructive transfer" is purely judicial innovation and is plainly contrary to the law as written.